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A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER/COURT OF APPEALS 
DECISION 

Dannie Brashear asks this Court to grant review of the 

Court of Appeals' part published decision in State v. Brashear, 

No. 86610-9-1, (November 19, 2024) (Appendix). 

B. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

1. Is review appropriate where the Court of Appeals 

conclusion that references to Brashear's "criminal history", 

"recent mugshots," prior incarceration, and use of a Special 

Weapons and Tactics (SWAT) team, were not prejudicial, 

conflicts with prior precedent, and presents a signification 

question oflaw under the Washington and U.S. Constitutions? 

2. Is review appropriate where the Court of Appeals 

conclusion that prosecutorial misconduct during closing 

argument did not prejudice Brashear, conflicts with precedent 

from this Court? 

3. Is review appropriate where the prosecution failed to 

prove the complaining witness had common authority to consent 
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to the warrantless searches of Brashear' s property and the Court 

of Appeals opinion to the contrary conflicts with this Court's 

precedent, and presents a signification question of law under the 

Washington and U.S. Constitutions? 

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

1. Trial Evidence. 

On October 27, 2021, Jenny Mourer called 911. 2RP 420, 

633-34, 654. Mourer met police in the driveway and had blood 

on her head and cuts on her arm and wrist. 2RP 327, 330, 426-

27. Mourer said Brashear hit her on the head with a hard object. 

2RP 328-330, 350, 366. After Mourer left in an ambulance, 

Deputy sheriff Michael Gonzalez searched the property with a 

K-9. He found no one. 2RP 330-31, 350-51, 353, 357. Gonzalez 

took several photos from the house doorway which showed 

blood smeared throughout the house. 2RP 352-67. 

Mourer's blood alcohol content was .251, but she denied 

consuming alcohol. 2RP 222-23, 302, 304, 457, 487. She was 

treated for broken ribs, a collapsed left lung, bruising, and cuts 
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to her arms, back, and head. 2RP 220-21, 224-25, 253-54, 292-

95, 299, 417-19, 428, 534. Mourer had no organ injuries and 

did not require surgery. 2RP 300-01. Mourer said her 

significant other struck her in the head, chest, and back, and that 

she had been stabbed. 2RP 221, 223, 291, 294, 299, 307. 

Brashear picked Mourer up from the hospital the following day. 

2RP 225, 430-31, 499-500, 510,560, 636-37. 

Mourer called 911 again on October 30. 2RP 357-58. 

Gonzalez again searched the property after helping Mourer into 

an ambulance. No one was on the property. 2RP 358-60. Police 

found a loaded .44 caliber revolver on a bench outside 

Brashear's house. 2RP 359-61, 534-35, 537, 544, 586, 604-09. 

No fingerprints were taken. 2RP 620. 

Mourer told doctors she was assaulted "in the same place 

by the same person as before." 2RP 232-35. Testing revealed 

no new injuries. 2RP 235. 

Mourer called police a third time on November 10. 2RP 

266-69, 540-41. In response, SWAT served a search warrant at 
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the property. 2RP 264-66, 269-70, 541. Brashear was not there. 

2RP270-71. 

Deputy sheriff Matthew Volker met with Mourer on 

November 11. Mourer's emotions often fluctuated and she 

"changed her story a few different times." 2RP 555, 558, 572. 

Volker never smelled alcohol on Mourer, but she had slurred 

speech and there was concern that Mourer was mixing alcohol 

and pain medication. 2RP 563-65, 571, 638-39. Mourer 

reported suffering a traumatic brain injury and sometimes had 

difficulty recalling things. 2RP 483,508, 511-12. 

Mourer testified Brasher pushed her off the truck onto the 

garage floor on October 26. 2RP 414-15, 433, 523. Brasher 

then repeatedly punched her and struck her with a tool bag for 

about one hour. 2RP 415-19, 453, 481, 489-90. Mourer 

provided no statement to police after the incident and was 

"really wishy washy and indecisive on what to do." 2RP 476-

28, 476-77. Although Mourer denied being cut with broken 

glass, she claimed she was hit in the head with a beer bottle. 
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2RP 476, 485, 490-91. She denied telling police she had broken 

her ribs falling on a picnic table. 2RP 4 73, 482. 

Mourer alleged Brashear punched her in the face again 

on October 30. 2RP 432, 449-50. She told police no crime 

occurred. 2RP 439, 441, 477. Mourer explained Brashear 

threatened her life many times and would sometimes take her 

phone while she was on a call with 911. 2RP 435-37, 440. 

Brashear broke her phone during one incident in November 

because she was calling 911. 2RP 44 7-49. 

Mourer contacted Brashear after the alleged November 

10 incident, explaining she loved him. 2RP 444, 510, 525, 548. 

Mourer denied owning firearms and testified Brashear would 

sometimes forget guns on the bench outside his house. 2RP 

437-39. 

Brashear denied assaulting Mourer. 2RP 622-23, 643-44, 

648. On October 26, Mourer consumed a large quantity of 

alcohol. 2RP 222-23, 627, 630. At some point, Mourer hit 

Brashear. 2RP 630. Brashear, who had also been drinking, 
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yelled at Mourer. 2RP 631, 635-36, 641. Mourer grabbed 

Brashear' s tool bag and swung it at him before he was able to 

push her away. 2RP 631, 647. A beer bottle in Brashear's hand 

fell and broke and Mourer fell into a truck hitch. Mourer also 

struck her head on the truck exhaust pipe. 2RP 632, 647-48. 

Brashear brought Mourer into the house where she called 911. 

2RP 420, 633-34, 654. Brashear was unable to drive Mourer to 

the hospital because he was intoxicated. 2RP 656. 

Brashear and Mourer began arguing again on October 30. 

2RP 637-38. There was no physical violence, but Mourer 

threatened to call police. 2RP 638. There was a "scuffle" 

between Brashear and Mourer on November 9 after he saw a 

text message on her phone. 2RP 644-45. When Brashear tried 

to grab the phone, Mourer struck him in the head, causing the 

phone to fall and crack. 2RP 645. Brashear denied preventing 

Mourer from calling 911. 2RP 646. 
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Brashear was asleep when police entered the property on 

October 27. 2RP 649. He did not meet with police because he 

was afraid he would be arrested. 2RP 642-43, 650-51, 657-58. 

Brashear was charged with seven felony crimes, 

including second degree assault, first degree unlawful 

possession of a firearm, felony harassment, two counts of fourth 

degree assault, third degree malicious mischief, and inference 

with reporting domestic violence. CP 13-15. 

The interference with reporting of domestic violence 

charge was dismissed before closing arguments. 2RP 668-69, 

681. A jury found Brashear not guilty of felony harassment, 

third degree malicious mischief, and two counts of fourth 

degree assault. CP 57-60; 2RP 734-36. Brashear was convicted 

of second degree assault and first degree unlawful possession of 

a firearm. CP 55-56; 2RP 734. The jury also found Brashear 

and Mourer were intimate partners. CP 61; 2RP 735. 
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Brashear was sentenced to concurrent prison sentences 

totaling 84 months and 18 months of community custody. CP 

158-75; 2RP 759. 

2. Motion to Suppress. 

Brashear moved to suppress the gun found by police 

during their warrantless October 30 search. CP 6-8; 2RP 155-

57. Brashear also moved midtrial to suppress photographs 

Gonzalez took during the warrantless October 27 search. 2RP 

335. 

Gonzalez's first contact with Brashear' s property 

occurred on October 27 when Mourer called 911. 2RP 160-61. 

At the time, Mourer had her own apartment in Vancouver. 2RP 

183. Mourer testified she had been staying at Brashear's house 

"on and off for months." 2RP 183. She reported staying at his 

house five days per week, and by the 27th had been at the house 

for over two weeks. 2RP 161, 183-84. 

Brashear' s house was located at the end of a long 

driveway. 15 to 20 yards up the driveway was a metal gate, the 
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purpose of which was to keep people off Brashear's property. 

2RP 12, 199-200. 

Gonzalez walked around the shut gate on October 27, 

acknowledging it was probably locked. 2RP 164-65, 169. 

Gonzalez did not know who owned the house but believed both 

Brashear and Mourer lived there. 2RP 161. The property 

contained a house that Gonzalez believed Brashear and Mourer 

occupied, a second vacant house, and a wooded area. 2RP 162, 

169. 

Mourer later gave Gonzalez telephonic perm1ss10n to 

search the house and property for Brashear. 2RP 162, 165-66, 

170, 175-77, 180-81, 339-43. Gonzalez observed blood on the 

vacant home door handle. 2RP 176. The door to the occupied 

house was open. 2RP 162, 176. Gonzalez did not enter the 

house but could see blood inside, which he took pictures of. 

2RP 176, 338-39. 

Police left the property without locating Brashear. 2RP 

162-63, 166. They issued a "be on the lookout" (BOLO) 
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bulletin for Brashear. After Mourer recanted the allegations, the 

BOLO was rescinded. 2RP 177-78. 

Gonzalez went to the property again on October 30 in 

response to Mourer's 911 call. 2RP 160. Gonzalez again 

walked around the locked gate toward the house. Gonzalez 

could hear two people arguing. Gonzalez did not have a 

warrant. 2RP 164-65, 169, 171-72, 178-79. 

Mourer met the police near the top of the driveway. 2RP 

164, 168-72, 180. She had plastic boxes containing her clothing 

and belongings. 2RP 165. Mourer indicated Brashear had fled 

and pointed toward a shed on the property. 2RP 168, 173-74. 

Police again accompanied Mourer down the driveway to an 

ambulance. 2RP 170. 

As Gonzalez acknowledged, "there wasn't really any 

exigent circumstances for [him] to go any further" because 

Mourer was safe. 2RP 167, 170. Still, Gonzalez called a K-9 

unit and searched the property for Brashear. 2RP 166-67, 169-

71. Police found a firearm on a picnic table outside the vacant 
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house in the "intimate area of the home." 2RP 167, 174. Police 

did not enter any buildings and left after failing to find 

Brashear. 2RP 167-68. 

Gonzalez did not recall whether he asked Mourer for 

permission to search the property on October 30. 2RP 165-66, 

170-72, 175-77. Mourer, however, testified she was asked, and 

gave police permission, to search the property on October 30. 

2RP 182, 192. 

Mourer acknowledged Brashear was "very specific " 

about not wanting police on his property. 2RP 190. Brashear 

erected a barricade on the property and threatened to shoot 

police if they entered the property. 2RP 192-94. 

Although Mourer testified she sometimes stayed at the 

house alone when Brashear left, she never invited guests onto 

the property. 2RP 186-87. She kept "half' of her belongings at 

the house and exchanged clothing from her apartment as 

needed. 2RP 184-85. 
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Mourer did not drive, depending on Brashear for 

transportation. 2RP 184, 189. Mourer was not on the lease and 

did not have her own key. 2RP 187-89, 197. Brashear 

occasionally handed Mourer his keys and she was able to access 

his truck and house keys. 2RP 188-89. 

Brashear denied Mourer lived with him or was on the 

lease. Brashear paid the rent for the house. 2RP 196-97. Mourer 

was with him at the house on October 30, but only kept 

overnight items at his house. 2RP 196-98. Mourer stayed at 

Brashear' s house about three nights per week. 2RP 201-02. 

Brashear denied Mourer had a key to the house or stayed there 

without him being present. 2RP 197. 

Brashear argued the gun should be suppressed because 

the police searched the protected curtilage of his property 

without a warrant. 2RP 158-59, 203-05, 208; CP 6-8 Brashear 

reasoned Moruer had no authority to consent to the search 

because she did not live at the house, had no key, and was 

merely a guest. 2RP 158-59, 204-05; CP 6-8. 
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The prosecution conceded the gun was found on the 

protected curtilage of Brashear's property, and any exigent 

circumstances ended once Mourer entered the ambulance. 2RP 

205. The prosecution argued Mourer had authority to consent to 

the search because she was more than a causal visitor and had 

access to the curtilage. 2RP 158, 206-07. 

The court found Mourer had been living with Brashear at 

the house before the police contact. CP 192 (finding 8); 2RP 

210. The court concluded police entered Brashear's property 

under exigent circumstances, but those circumstances ended 

once Mourer left in the ambulance. CP 192-93 ( conclusions 1-

2). Acknowledging a "close call," the court concluded Mourer 

had actual authority to provide consent as a co-habitant of the 

property. 2RP 209-10, 338, 344. Thus, police were lawfully on 

the property when they found the gun. CP 193 ( conclusion 3-6). 

At trial, Brashear objected to the admission of exhibits 7 

through 18 arguing police took the pictures after a warrantless 

search on October 27. Brashear noted Gonzalez's report was 
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silent as to consent, and questioned whether Mourer could even 

consent given her intoxication. 2RP 335, 346. The prosecution 

maintained testimony from the CrR 3.6 hearing established 

Mourer had also given consent for the search on October 27. 

2RP 336, 340. The court concluded Mourer provided valid 

consent for the search, and the photographs were admissible. 

2RP 344-45, 347. 

3. Appeal. 

Brashear raised several arguments on appeal, including 

those below. The Court of Appeals affirmed. Brashear now 

seeks review. 

D. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW 
ACCEPTED 

SHOULD BE 

1. Multiple references to Brashear's criminal 
history violated his right to a fair trial. 

The right to a fair trial is a fundamental liberty secured 

by the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States 

Constitution and article I, section 22 of the Washington State 

Constitution. Estelle v. Williams, 425 U.S. 501, 503, 96 S. Ct. 
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1691, 48 L. Ed. 2d 126 (1976); State v. Finch, 137 Wn.2d 792, 

843, 975 P.2d 967, cert. denied, 528 U.S. 922 (1999). The 

erroneous denial of a motion for mistrial violates this right. 

State v. Weber, 99 Wn.2d 158, 164, 659 P.2d 1102 (1983). 

Multiple prosecution witnesses violated orders in limine 

prohibiting testimony about Brashear' s prior bad acts, criminal 

history, and prior imprisonment. 1 CP 8, 10-11; 2RP 13 8, 14 7-

48, 151. 

During direct examination of deputy sheriff Zachary 

Nielsen, the following occurred: 

Q. Can you - not the process of obtaining a search 
warrant, but the process of executing one. Can you 
describe to us what goes into that? 
A. Sure. So, without going into too much detail. 
Every time we do a search warrant, we do a risk 
assessment, which would lead us to totaling points 
based upon criminal histories, access to weapons, 
that kind of thing. In this specific incident, we had 
a certain point total -
Q. I'm gonna - I'm gonna stop you. 
A. Okay. 

1 The parties stipulated Brashear was previously convicted of a 
serious offense only for purposes of the unlawful possession of 
a firearm charge. 2RP 145-46, 612-13; CP 40. 
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Q. Don't - don't maybe talk so much about 
planning. 
A. Okay. 
Q. I mean I think you've indicated­
A. Okay. 
Q. -you made a danger plan. 
A. Sure. 
Q. Let's not talk too much about specifics -
A. Okay 
Q. - but just in general, how you go about 
executing a warrant. 
A. Sure. So, for this incident we had SW AT serve 
the warrant based upon the risk to deputies. Once 
they serve -

2RP 269-70. Brashear's non-responsive objection was 

overruled. 2RP 270. 

While testifying about Mourer's October 27 911 call, 

Gonzalez stated "we also knew that Mr. Brashear lived there 

and he did have a criminal history." 2RP 327. Gonzalez had 

never met Brashear but recognized him from "recent mugshots 

in our RMS system." 2RP 332. The trial court refused 

Brashear' s request to have the mugshot reference stricken. 2RP 

332-33. 
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Brashear later asked the trial court to strike Gonzalez's 

testimony about Brashear's "criminal history. " 2RP 335. The 

trial court refused to instruct the jury to disregard the testimony, 

concluding there was no prejudice and reasoning it would draw 

unnecessary attention. 2RP 335-37. 

Mourer also testified she did not meet police at the end of 

the driveway on October 27 because she was worried "because 

he [Brashear] said he refused to go back to prison. " 2RP 420. 

Brashear objected and moved for a mistrial, arguing Mourer's 

testimony was prejudicial because the stipulation made no 

mention of Brashear having gone to prison. 2RP 420-22, 425. 

Citing Brashear's stipulation, the prosecution argued Mourer's 

testimony was relevant to her fear for the felony harassment and 

second degree assault charges. 2RP 422-23. 

The court acknowledged the remark was "very 

prejudicial " but reasoned the prior conviction stipulation 

reduced the prejudicial effect, and the testimony was relevant 

under ER 403 and ER 404(b) to explain Mourer' s fear and the 
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dynamic between her and Brashear. 2RP 423-26. The court 

denied the motion for mistrial and refused to act on Brashear' s 

objection. 2RP 424. 

The following day, the prosecution elicited the following 

during Volker's direct examination: 

Q. And how is that you found yourself there on the 
10th? 
A. So again, there was another incident that had 
taken place up there. Initially, it was unclear if the 
defendant and/or Jenny were that residence, but 
there was obviously concern for Jenny's safety. 
So, there - the house was basically cleared by our 
SW AT team, to make sure that nobody was inside 
and then I went up there to assist in searching the 
residence. 
Q, So, you went up after SWAT, who made the 
residence safe? 
A. Yes. 
Q. How often is SW AT dispatched? Does it 
happen every time you go to a case like this? 
A. No, it does not. 

2RP 541. 

As the Court of Appeals properly recognized, given the 

trial court 's  refusal to take corrective action on Brashear's 

repeated objections and motions to strike, "we confront an 
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evidentiary record [in] which the trial court allowed to go to the 

jury with numerous references to other acts by Brashear that 

were obviously inadmissible under ER 403 and 404(b ), and that 

were excluded by the order in limine." Op. at 18. Despite this, 

the Court of Appeals held "[w]hile the question is a close one, 

we decline to order a new trial." Id. The Court of Appeals 

reasoned the references were harmless because the jury knew 

Brashear had a prior conviction based on his stipulation, and 

they "never directly indicated" that Brashear had more recent 

criminality. Id. 

Contrary to the Court of Appeals reasoning, the prejudice 

to Brashear stems not just from an "implication" of "more 

recent criminality" but also that Brashear was a dangerous 

person with a propensity for violence and criminality. Testimony 

about Brashear's refusal to return to prison and the use of SWAT 

for officer safety, conveyed to the jury Brashear was a dangerous 

person. It suggested that Brashear could commit the type of 

violent crimes with which he was charged. Such evidence 
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inevitably shifted the jury's attention to Brashear's general 

propensity for violence. 

The testimony about criminal history, recent mugshots, 

and prior imprisonment, also impermissibly and "inevitably 

shift[ed] the jury's attention to the defendant's propensity for 

criminality, the forbidden inference . . . .  " State v. Perrett, 86 

Wn. App. 3 12, 320, 936 P.2d 426 ( quoting State v. Bowen, 48 

Wn. App. 1 87, 1 96, 738 P.2d 3 16  ( 1987), review denied, 1 33 

Wn.2d 10 19  ( 1997)). A juror's natural inclination is to reason 

that, having previously committed an offense, the accused is 

likely to have reoffended by acting in conformity with that 

character. State v. Bacotgarcia, 59 Wn. App. 8 15, 822, 801 P.2d 

993 ( 1990), review denied, 1 16 Wn.2d 1 020 ( 199 1 ). The 

assumption the jury would have disregarded these repeated and 

improper comments in the absence of any curative action is 

inapposite. 

The order in limine violations were not cumulative of 

properly admitted evidence. State v. Escalona, 49 Wn. App. 
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251, 254, 742 P.2d 190 (1987). Unlike the testimony, and 

contrary to the Court of Appeals reasoning, the jury was 

explicitly prohibited from using the stipulation for any 

improper purpose. Jurors are presumed to follow the court's 

instructions. Id. 

The Court of Appeals also failed to consider who uttered 

the improper testimony. See State v. Taylor, 18 Wn. App. 2d 

568, 583, 490 P.3d 263 (2021) (recognizing cumulative effect 

of multiple irregularities over a short period of time by a key 

witness unlikely to have been resolved or mitigated with 

curative instructions). The fact two of the witnesses were police 

officers indicates a serious irregularity. State v. Gamble, 168 

Wn.2d 161, 178, 225 P.3d 973 (2010) (citing State v. Taylor, 60 

Wn.2d 32, 36, 371 P.2d 617 (1962)); State v. Montgomery, 163 

Wn.2d 577, 595, 183 P.3d 267 (2008) ("police officers' 

testimony carries an 'aura of reliability'"). Likewise, the jury 

could not reasonably be expected to forget what Mourer said as 
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the complaining witness given that her testimony was crucial to 

the prosecution's case. 

Evidence of Brashear' s guilt was not overwhelming. 

Mourer and Brashear gave conflicting accounts on what 

transpired on the days in question. There was no independent 

eyewitness testimony to corroborate Mourer' s version of events 

for the second degree assault charge. Potential reasonable doubt 

existed, and the repeatedly improper testimony may have 

swayed the jury to convict. "A trial in which irrelevant and 

inflammatory matter is introduced, which has a natural 

tendency to prejudice the jury against the accused, is not a fair 

trial." State v. Miles, 73 Wn.2d 67, 70, 436 P.2d 198 (1968). 

Such is the case here. 

Because the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with 

prior precedent and involves a significant question of whether 

Brashear' s constitutional right to a fair trial was undermined, 

review is appropriate under RAP 13 .4(b) ( 1 )-(b )(3 ). 
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2. Prosecutorial misconduct denied Brashear his 
right to a fair trial. 

Prosecutorial misconduct deprives a defendant of a fair 

trial guaranteed under the state and federal constitutions and is 

grounds for reversal if "the prosecuting attorney's conduct was 

both improper and prejudicial. " State v. Monday, 171 Wn.2d 

667,675,257 P.3d 551 (2011). A '" [f]air trial' certainly implies 

a trial in which the attorney representing the state does not 

throw the prestige of his public office ... and the expression of 

his own belief of guilt into the scales against the accused. "' Id. 

at 677 (quoting State v. Case, 49 Wn.2d 66, 7 1 ,298 P.2d 500 

(1956)). 

The prosecutor must "seek convictions based only on 

probative evidence and sound reason. " State v. Casteneda-

Perez, 61 Wn. App. 354, 363, 810 P.3d 74, review denied, 118 

Wn.2d 1007 (1991 ). "Mere appeals to the jury's passion or 

prejudice are improper. " State v. Pierce, 169 Wn. App. 533, 

552, 280 P.3d 1158, review denied, 175 Wn.2d 1025 (2012). 
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Nor can a prosecutor express a personal opinion on the guilt of 

the defendant. State v. Walker, 182 Wn.2d 463, 478, 341 P.3d 

976, cert. denied, 576 U.S. 1022 (2015); State v. Lindsay, 180 

Wn.2d 423, 437, 326 P.3d 125 (2014). The jury alone 

determines issues of witness credibility. State v. Jungers, 125 

Wn. App. 895, 901, 106 P.3d 827 (2005). Whether a 

prosecutor's opinion of guilt is expressed directly or through 

inference, such opinion is improper and inadmissible because it 

invades the jury's province. Id. 

During her cross examination of Brashear, the prosecutor 

violated these principles when questioning why he did not 

surrender himself to police. Brashear explained he did not 

remain at the house on October 30 or meet with police because 

he did not believe he would be treated fairly. See 2RP 649-52. 

Brashear' s answers led the prosecutor to rhetorically ask: 

Okay. So, don't you think that it would be logical 
then, that you would want to leave with law 
enforcement? That you would want to be present 
when they show up at the house, so you don 't look 
guiltier then you are by not being there? 
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2RP 652 ( emphasis added) . Brashear objected and requested the 

remark be stricken. The court sustained the objection, but did 

not strike, telling the prosecutor to rephrase the question. 2RP 

652. 

At the next recess, Brashear requested a mistrial, arguing 

the prosecutor's comment was a direct comment on his guilt 

and constituted misconduct. 2RP 652, 660-61. The prosecutor 

did not object to striking the comment, but argued there was no 

prejudice because she would argue Brashear was guilty during 

closing argument. 2RP 660. 

The court recognized the prosecutor's comment was "a 

mistake, an inadvertent one, " but denied the motion for mistrial, 

concluding it had been remedied and reasoning that "guilt can 

mean several things. There's consciousness of guilt. Guilt of a 

crime beyond a reasonable doubt[ .] " 2RP 661-62. 

As the Court of Appeals properly recognized, "the 

prosecutor's cross-examination was improper because it 
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embedded in the question the prosecutor's own testimony that 

Brashear was guilty." Op. at 21. But the Court of Appeals 

conclusion that "this one instance of misconduct did not rise to 

the level justifying appellate relief{,]" conflicts with prior 

precedent from this Court. Op. at 22. 

Prejudice is established where there is a substantial 

likelihood the prosecutorial misconduct affected the jury's 

verdict. Monday, 171 Wn.2d at 675. But it "is not a matter of 

determining whether there is sufficient evidence to convict the 

defendant." In re Pers. Restraint of Glasmann, 175 Wn.2d 696, 

710, 286 P.3d 673 (2012). "The issue is whether the comments 

deliberately appealed to the jury's passion and prejudice and 

encouraged the jury to base the verdict on the improper argument 

'rather than properly admitted evidence." Id. at 711. 

In Glasmann, "[ d]uring closing argument, the 

prosecuting attorney made an electronic presentation to the jury 

that displayed his personal opinion that Glasmann was 'guilty, 

guilty, guilty' of the crimes charged by the State." 175 Wn.2d 
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at 699. This Court concluded that the "highly inflammatory 

images " contaminated the entire proceedings because it 

"distracted the jury from its duty to consider the evidence 

unaffected by the overlaid message that emphatically and 

repeatedly conveyed the prosecutor's belief to the jury that 

Glasmann is 'absolutely guilty!' and which constituted an 

appeal to passion and prejudice on all counts. " 175 Wn.2d at 

712. Although this Court recognized that the impact of the 

prosecutorial misconduct was "exceedingly difficult to assess, " 

it nonetheless concluded that it was "substantially likely" to 

have affected the entirety of the jury deliberations and verdicts. 

Id. 

More recently, this Court also concluded a prosecutor 

commits misconduct when commenting on a defendant's guilt 

even in the context of a discussion of flight and consciousness 

of guilt. State v. Slater, 197 Wn.2d 660, 683, 486 P.3d 873 

(2021 ). In Slater, the prosecutor equated the defendant's failure 

to appear at a court hearing with consciousness of guilt. The 
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prosecutor repeatedly questioned during closing argument, "If 

he didn't do it, why didn't he show up for trial call a year ago? 

Why didn't he show? ... The day that we find out whether this 

case is going out or not, he's gone. If he didn 't do it, why didn't 

he show? " 197 Wn.2d at 682-83. Slater concluded an 

instruction to the jury would not have cured the improper 

argument because despite a defense objection, the judge simply 

stated, "I'll just note it's argument. " Id. at 683. 

As in Glasmann and Slater, here the improper 

prosecutorial opinion on guilt was likely to affect the verdict in 

this case for the reasons discussed in argument D.1., supra. 

"When the evidence is disputed, the jury "'may be inclined to 

give weight to the prosecutor's opinion in assessing the 

credibility of witnesses, instead of making the independent 

judgment of credibility to which the defendant is entitled."' 

State v. Weatherspoon, 410 F.3d 1142, 1147-48 (9th Cir. 2005) 

(quoting United States v. McKoy, 771 F.2d 1207, 1211 (9th 

Cir. 1985)). 
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The misconduct here was not the type to be remedied by 

the trial court's mere sustaining of defense counsel 's objection. 

Op. at 22. When a court fails to strike the offending remarks or 

instruct the jury to disregard them, they remain available for the 

jury's  consideration. State v. Swan, 114 Wn.2d 613, 659, 790 

P.2d 610 (1990), cert. denied, 498 U.S. 1046 (1991); State v. 

Stackhouse, 90 Wn. App. 344, 361, 957 P.2d 218, review 

denied, 136 Wn.2d 1002 (1998). 

Because the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with 

G lasmann and Slater, review is appropriate under RAP 13 .4(b) 

(1). 

3.  Mourer lacked actual authority to consent to 
the officer's warrantless searches of Brashear's 
property and this case presents this Court an 
opportunity to clarify the proper test. 

A warrantless search is per se unconstitutional under 

article I, section 7, and the Fourth Amendment to the United 

States Constitution, unless it falls within one of the few 

exceptions to the wmTant requirement. State v. Gaines, 154 
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Wn.2d 711, 716, 116 P.3d 993 (2005); State v. Rankin, 151 

Wn.2d 689, 695, 92 P.3d 202 (2004). "The warrant requirement 

is especially important under article I, section 7, of the 

Washington Constitution as it is the warrant which provides the 

'authority of law' referenced therein." State v. Ladson, 138 

Wn.2d 343, 350, 979 P.2d 833 (1999). 

Consent is one of the exceptions to the warrant 

requirement. State v. Leach, 113 Wn.2d 735, 738, 782 P.2d 

1035 (1989); State v. Garner, 26 Wn. App. 2d 654, 529 P.3d 

1053, 1057 (2023). The "'consent of one who possesses 

common authority over premises or effects is valid as against 

the absent, nonconsenting person with whom that authority is 

shared."' Leach, 113 Wn.2d at 739 (quoting United States v. 

Matlock, 415 U.S. 164, 170, 94 S. Ct. 988, 39 L. Ed. 2d 242 

(1974)). 

The State has the burden of establishing consent to search 

was lawfully given. State v. Thompson, 151 Wn.2d 793, 803, 92 

P.3d 228 (2004). To meet this burden, the prosecution must 
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demonstrate : (1) the consent was voluntary, (2) the person 

consenting must have the authority to consent, and (3) the search 

must not exceed the scope of the consent. Id. "Authority" to 

consent is a question of law. State v. Morse, 156 Wn.2d 1, 5, 18, 

123 P.3d 832 (2005). 

"Under article I, section 7, whether a person can consent to 

the search of a premises is based upon that person's independent 

authority to so consent and the reasonable expectation of his co­

occupant about that authority. " Morse, 156 Wn.2d at 10. 

Common authority is analyzed in terms of "control " over the 

premises. Id. ( citing Leach, 113 Wn.2d at 739). "The touchstone 

of the inquiry is that the person with common authority must 

have free access to the shared area and authority to invite others 

into the shared area. " Id. at 10-11. The State must therefore prove 

two elements to establish valid consent under the common 

authority doctrine: (1) the consenting party must be able to permit 

the search in his own right; and (2) it must be reasonable to find 

that the defendant has assumed the risk that a co-occupant might 
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permit a search. Id. at 10; State v. Mathe, 102 Wn.2d 537, 543-

44, 688 P.2d 859 (1984). 

To qualify as a cohabitant, the prosecution must show the 

person had "equal control over the premises." Thompson, 151 

Wn.2d at 805. This Court has found equal control and common 

authority in cases where all cohabitants were signatories on the 

premises lease, Leach, 113 Wn.2d at 738, and where a married 

couple jointly occupied the premises, State v. Walker, 136 

Wn.2d 678, 681, 686, 965 P.2d 1079 (1998). In contrast, this 

Court did not find equal control and common authority where a 

son was living on a portion of his parents' property and did not 

pay rent. Thompson, 151 Wn.2d at 807-08. 

In Thompson, the defendant lived rent-free on his 

parents' property in a trailer his parents owned. He used a 

boathouse on the property for storage. 151 Wn.2d at 806. 

Although the defendant's parents allowed him to store items in 

their boathouse, they did not make the boathouse available for 

his exclusive use. Id. There was no evidence the defendant was 
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ever m exclusive control of the boathouse. Id. at 806-07. 

Rather, the defendant's use of the boathouse "was clearly 

dependent upon the permission of the owners. " Id. at 806. Thus, 

this Court held the defendant was not a co-occupant with equal 

access and control because, "while [the defendant] and his 

parents each had access to the boathouse, his right to access, as 

a nonoccupying nonowner, was subordinate to his parents[ ' ] . " 

Id. 

Here the facts demonstrate Mourer was not a cohabitant, 

did not have equal control over the property, and did not have 

authority to invite others onto the property. Unlike the 

cohabitants in Leach and Walker, Mourer was neither 

Brashear' s spouse, nor a signatory on the property lease. 2RP 

187-88, 197, 201. In addition, like the son in Thompson, 

Mourer was not paying rent at Brashear' s house as she had her 

own apartment in Vancouver. 2RP 183, 1 96-98. At best, 

Mourer was a temporary guest who stayed a few nights per 

week at Brashear's house. 2RP 183, 202-03. 
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Mourer' s status as a temporary guest is further 

demonstrated by the fact she did not possess her own key to the 

property. 2RP 197. She only had access to the house keys when 

given them by Brashear. 2RP 188-89. Possession of a key is a 

strong indication of access and permission to enter, and thus 

apparent authority to consent. State v. Holmes, 108 Wn. App. 

511, 520, 31 P.3d 716 (2001). The converse must also be true. 

All these facts demonstrate Mourer was not a cohabitant of 

the property and therefore did not possess equal control or 

authority over it. Mere access to an area does not, by itself, equal 

actual authority to consent. See Illinois v. Rodriguez, 497 U.S. 

177, 181-82, 110 S. Ct. 2793, 111 L. Ed. 2d 148 (1990) 

(defendant's former roommate did not have common authority to 

consent to search of apartment despite possessing a key because 

she had moved out, never went to the house when defendant was 

not home, was not on the lease, and did not pay rent); City of 

Seattle v. McReady, 124 Wn.2d 300, 307, 877 P.2d 686 (1994) 

(tenants of a residential apartment complex had authority to 
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consent to the search of the common areas based on their own 

common access to those areas). 

Despite these facts, the Court of Appeals reasoned that 

Thompson "did not hold that ' equal' authority must exist to give 

consent for any search[.] " Op. at 30. Instead, the Court cited 

Morse to conclude that "a guest might have the ability to pennit a 

search of common areas but not private areas in which the guest 

was not normally received. " Id. ( citing Morse, 156 Wn.2d at 11 ). 

But what is missing is Mourer' s authority to invite others onto 

any portion of the property. Mourer never invited guests onto 

Brashear's property. 2RP 186-87. She acknowledged Brashear 

was "very specific " about not wanting police on his property. 

2RP 190. Thus, even assuming Mourer had free access to shared 

areas of the property, she explicitly did not have Brashear' s 

consent or permission to invite police onto the property. Mourer 

was not a cohabitant with equal rights of control over Brashear' s 

property. Thus, Brashear never assumed the risk Mourer might 

permit a search. 
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The Court of Appeals decision conflicts with this Court's 

decision in Thompson and involves a significant question of 

constitutional law under article I, section 7 and the Fourth 

Amendment. This Court should grant review under RAP 13 .4 

(b) (1) and (3). 

E. CONCLUSION 

Brashear respectfully asks this Court to grant review and 

reverse his convictions. 

I certify that this document contains 5,790 words, 
excluding those portions exempt under RAP 18.17. 

DATED this 18th day of December, 2024. 

Respectfully submitted, NIELSEN �RANNIS, PLLC 

JARED B. STEED, 
WSBA No. 40635 
Attorney for Petitioner 
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DIVIS ION ONE 

OPIN ION PUBL ISHED I N  PART 

BIRK, J .  - Dan n ie Brashear appeals h is conviction ,  a rgu ing ,  among other 

things , that the trial cou rt violated h is constitutional  right to confer with counsel 

where he appeared at all pretria l  hearings remote ly, wh i le h is defense counsel was 

at a d ifferent location .  I n  the p ubl ished portion of th is opin ion , we hold that 

B rashear d id not object to this arrangement in the tria l  cou rt and can not ra ise this 

issue for the first time on appeal because he cannot show manifest e rror as 

requ i red by RAP 2 .5(a)(3) . For this reason ,  and those d iscussed in the 

unpubl ished portion of th is opinion, we affirm Brashear's conviction and remand to 

strike the victim penalty assessment (VPA) and commun ity custody supervision 

fees. 

On November 1 8 ,  202 1 , the State filed an  information in  superior court 

charg ing Brashear with several crimina l  counts a rising out of a l leged a ltercations 
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with a n  in t imate partner. Brashear appeared remotely via Zoom 1 from the jail for 

each of h is pretrial hearings, whi le defense counsel appeared from a location 

d iffe re n t  from h im.  Brashear d id not object to appearing remotely at  any of the 

heari n gs .  

B rashear's first appearance occu rred o n  December 2 ,  2021 . The tr ial  court 

found  p robable cause existed for the charges and appointed counsel for B rashear. 

The State req uested , and the tr ial court agreed to , $500 ,000 .00 in bai l .  The trial 

cou rt p laced Brashear in a wait ing room2 for "a few minutes" while the conditions 

for re l ease and the no-contact order were being prepared.  Defense counsel  asked 

to be p la ced in the same waiting room, wh ich the trial court stated it cou ld not do.3 

At Brashear's arraignment, Brashear pleaded not gui lty and the tria l cou rt 

set d ates for trial and an omn ibus hearing. 

On December 1 7 , 2021 , the trial court went on the record to note that a 

motion  hearing had been moved to the following week. 

On December 23 , 2021 , the tr ial court held a hearing for Brashear's motion 

to red uce bai l to $1 00,000.00.  Through counsel, Brashear argued that he had a 

1 "Zoom" is a cloud-based videoconferencing software platform. 
2 A Zoom "waiting room" is a v irtual stag ing area that prevents people from 

join i ng  a meeting until the host is ready .  Secure Your Meetings with Zoom Waiting 
Rooms, ZOOM BLOG, https ://www.zoom .com/en/blog/secu re-you r-meetin gs-zoom­
waiting- rooms/?cms_gu id=false&lang=en-US (last visited Oct. 1 5 , 2024) . 

3 Brashear does not clearly argue on appeal that this exchange amou nted 
to an objection to use of the remote p latform. Brashear raises it as evidence that 
he lacked the abi l ity to cont inuously confer  with counsel .  When Brashear was 
asked to wait while the trial court completed paperwork, his newly a ppointed 
counsel asked for the opportun ity to confer .  The record ind icates that a breakout 
room was not avai lable because the jai l  was "pushing th rough ." The excha nge 
does not ind icate that the remote platform d id n ot al low breakout room capabi l ity . 

2 
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two year old ch i ld for whom he was obligated to pay chi ld support, he tested 

positive for COVI D-1 9 at the jai l  and "[h]e'd l ike to get out of there,"  he had an open 

labor a nd industries claim that he cou ld not prosecute from the jai l , and he had 

l imited funds secured to assist in  the payment of the bail bond . The State objected 

to any reduction of Brashear's ba i l ,  and the tria l  cou rt den ied the defense's motion. 

At the January 1 2 ,  2022 omn ibus hearing ,  the State noted that "the parties 

are in agreement to set it over to next week." Defense cou nsel ind icated he had 

"ta lked to [Brashear] about this ," and the cou rt cont inued the hearing .  

On January 2 1 ,  2022 , the tria l  cou rt he ld  the rescheduled omnibus hearing , 

where the parties confirmed they had excha nged omnibus packages. 

On January 25, 2022 , the trial cou rt he ld a hearing for defense counsel's 

motion to continue .  After determin ing the parties were with in  Brashear's speedy 

tria l  deadl ine,  the trial court reset tria l  for April 1 8 ,  2022.  

O n  February 4 ,  2022 , the trial cou rt he ld a hearing for Brashear's motion to 

a l low h im access to the law l ibra ry, for wh ich Brashear was not present. The State 

had no objection and  the tria l court granted the motion . 

On March 1 6, 2022 , a hearing was held on Brashear's motion for 

substitution of cou nsel .  The tria l  court a l lowed the substitution a nd confi rmed it 

wou ld not change any tria l  dates. 

On April 1 4 ,  2022 ,  the trial cou rt he ld a readiness hearing. Brashear's new 

defense counsel noted she and the State agreed on a new trial date ,  but could be 

ready "only if the motion to sever is g ranted . "  The State requested a conti nuance 

to review the motion to sever and  noted it also cou ld not be ready without knowing 

3 
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the cou rt's ru l ing on the motion .  Brashear stated, "I wou ld like to move forward 

with my tria l on Monday, but I believe it's best if we cou ld sever it." The trial court 

con ti n ued  trial to May 2 and set a new readiness hearing .  

O n  April 2 1 , 2022,  the tria l court held a second read iness hearing .  Defense 

cou n sel  requested a continuance to review additional d iscovery she had received , 

and noted on the record she had conferred with Brashear, "We have d iscussed it 

at l ength . He knows what the Court's position is and I th ink the Court can find good 

cause , based on the fact that I have not reviewed all of the d iscovery in the 

m atte rs. "  After hearing from the State and Brashear, the trial court continued tria l  

u nt i l  J une 21 , 2022 .  

On May 1 3 , 2022 , the tria l court held a hearing regarding the pend ing tria l 

d ate . The State explained a witness was not ava i lable for the June 2 1  date 

becau se he wou ld be in mi lita ry train ing , and asked to advance the trial date to 

M ay 23 .  Brashear confirmed he d id not object to moving up the trial date . The 

trial cou rt g ranted the State's request. 

I I  

B rashear argues for the first time on appeal that h is constitutional right to 

privately confer with cou nsel was violated where he appeared at these pretrial 

hearings by videoconference whi le h is defense counsel was in a d ifferent location .  

We ho ld that Brashear cannot raise th is issue for the first time on appea l because 

he can not establ ish man ifest e rror u nder RAP 2 .5(a)(3) . 

Under both the Sixth Amendment and article 1 ,  section 22 of the 

Wash ington constitution ,  a criminal defendant is entitled to the assistance of 

4 



No.  8661 0-9-1/5 

counsel .  State v. Heng, 2 Wn .3d 384 , 388, 539 P.3d 1 3  (2023) . The right to 

counsel attaches at a defendant's " 'first appearance before a judicial officer' where 

'a defendant is told of the formal accusation against h im and restrictions are 

imposed on  h is l iberty. ' "  kl at 389 (quoting Rothgery v. Gi l lespie County, 554 

U .S .  1 91 ,  1 94 ,  1 28 S .  Ct. 2578, 1 71 L .  Ed.  2d 366 (2008)). The right to counsel 

requ i res defendants to have the ab il ity to confer mean ingful ly and privately with 

their attorneys at a l l  critical stages of the proceedings. State v. Anderson ,  1 9  Wn. 

App .  2d 556 , 562 , 497 P.2d 880 (202 1 ) .  " [A] critical stage is one where a 

'defendant's rights were lost, defenses were waived ,  privileges were claimed or 

waived ,  or  i n  wh ich the outcome of the case was otherwise substantial ly affected . ' " 

Heng, 2 Wn.3d at 394 (inte rna l  quotation marks omitted) (quoting State v. 

Heddrick, 1 66 Wn.2d 898, 9 1 0  n .9 ,  2 1 5  P .3d 201  (2009)) .  

Case law d istingu ishes between the defendant lacking any legal counsel at 

a hearing ,  and  the defendant having cou nsel but lacking the abi l ity to confer 

mean ingfu lly and privately d u ring the proceedings.  See State v. Dimas, 30 Wn. 

App. 2d 2 1 3, 2 1 9, 544 P.3d 597 (2024). The S upreme Court has held that the 

absence of cou nsel from a hearing that is not a critica l stage is subject to 

constitutional  harmless error ana lysis. Heng, 2 Wn .3d at 393-94 (citing Satterwh ite 

v. Texas ,  486 U .S .  249, 257,  1 08 S .  Ct .  1 792 , 1 00 L .  Ed . 2d 284 ( 1 988)) .  And this 

court has held that where counsel is present, a deprivation of the right to 

mean ingful ly and privately confer even at a critical stage is subject to constitutional 

harmless e rror ana lysis. Dimas, 30 Wn. App. 2d at 2 1 9-20 (contrasting State v. 

Heddrick, 1 66 Wn.2d 898, 9 1 0, 2 1 5  P .3d 201  (2009) (discussing complete den ial 
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of cou nsel) and State v. Bragg , 28 Wn . App. 2d 497 , 51 2 ,  536 P .3d 1 1 76 (2023) 

(ap p lying constitutional harmless error to deprivation of the abi l ity to confer at 

cr it i ca l  stages)) .4 

Brashear d id not object in the trial court that appearing remotely violated h is 

r igh t  to p rivately confer with counsel . RAP 2 .5(a)(3) states that a party may ra ise 

for t h e  fi rst time on appeal a "manifest error affecting a constitutional  right . "  This 

ru l e  is intended to al low a reviewing cou rt to correct any "serious injustice to the 

accused"  and to preserve the fa irness and integrity of jud icial proceed ings.  State 

v .  M cFarland ,  1 27 Wn .2d 322, 333,  899 P .2d 1 251 (1 995) . To determine the 

app l icabi l ity of RAP 2 .5(a)(3), we inquire whether ( 1 )  the error is truly of a .  

const itutional magn itude ,  and (2) the error is man ifest , mean ing the appel lant can 

show actual  p rejud ice . State v. J .W. M . ,  1 Wn . 3d 58, 90, 524 P .3d 596 (2023) .  To 

demonstrate actual prejud ice , the appellant must make a plausible showing that 

the claimed error had practica l and identifiable consequences in the trial of the 

case .  kl_ at 9 1 . I n  determin ing whether the error was identifiable, the tria l  record 

m ust be sufficient to determine the merits of the claim. State v. Kirkman, 1 59 

Wn .2d 9 1 8 , 935, 1 55 P . 3d 1 25 (2007) . " If the facts necessary to adjud icate the 

cla i med error are not in the record on appeal ,  no actual prejudice is shown and the 

error is not man ifest." McFarland , 1 27 Wn .2d at 333. 

4 When a defendant lacks any counsel at a critical stage of the proceed ings ,  
the Wash ington Supreme Court has called th is  structural e rror requ ir ing automatic 
reversa l. Heng, 2 Wn .3d at 392. 

6 
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Here ,  the deprivation of the right to confer with cou nsel is a constitutiona l  

cla im.  Thus,  the q uestion turns on whether B rashear has  establ ished manifest 

error. 

This showing becomes more d ifficu lt when the claim is that a crimina l 

defendant was u nable to confer with cou nsel at a proceeding that was not a critica l 

stage. S ince critica l stages in  genera l  include those "where the outcome of the 

case was otherwise substantial ly affected ," Heng,  2 Wn.3d at 394, it follows that 

l imitations on conferring with cou nsel at other hearings a re less l ikely to resu lt in 

" 'practical and identifiable consequences in the tria l  of the case' " u nder RAP 

2 .5 (a)(3) , J .W. M . ,  1 Wn .3d at 9 1  ( interna l  q uotation marks omitted)  (quoting State 

v. O'Hara ,  1 67 Wn.2d 9 1 , 99 , 2 1 7  P .3d 756 (2009)) .  Brashear does not attempt 

to demonstrate that any of the hearings at issue were crit ical stages. B rashear's 

first appearance and arra ignment were not critica l stages for purposes of the right 

to counsel .  See Heng, 2 Wn.3d at 395. The remain ing p roceed ings were two 

motion hearings for bai l  red uction , two omnibus hearings,  a motion to continue 

tria l ,  a motion to a llow Brashear access to the law l ibrary,  a motion for substitution 

of cou nsel ,  two read iness hearings , and a motion hearing to move the tria l  date 

forward . At these hearings, Brashear " lost no  rights , waived no defenses, and 

neither cla imed nor waived privi leges." 19..:. H is chal lenges to the bai l  amount were 

den ied , but he d id not "lose h is abi lity to chal lenge bai l . "  19..:. 

We additiona l ly look at the content of the hearings in  considering whether 

any l imitation on conferra l resulted in actual prejudice having practica l and 

identifiable consequences in  the tria l  of the case . At the December 1 7  hearing ,  the 
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tria l  court went on the record on ly to learn the hearing had been moved to the 

fo l lowing week. At the December 23 hearing ,  Brashear's counsel argued for bail 

red u ction and l isted multiple reasons why bail should be reduced . It is clear from 

the reasons presented that Brashear had had ample opportun ity to confer with 

cou nsel .  There is no ind ication that consu ltation with counsel du ring the hearing 

wou ld have changed the outcome of the motion and Brashear makes no attempt 

to show that any a l leged deprivation affected the trial that occurred five months 

later. The omnibus hearing was ag reed , and the motions for law l ibrary access 

and  substitution of counsel were g ranted in Brashear's favor. Brashear does not 

show how the abi l ity to confer at these hearings cou ld have affected them,  let alone 

the subseq uent tria l .  

The remain ing hearings concerned the trial date . The tria l cou rt g ranted 

tria l  continuances despite Brashear's refusal to waive his speedy tria l  right. But 

the trial court had legitimate reasons for g ranting the continuances, Brashear 

info rmed the cou rt of h is objections, in  at least one hearing Brashear's counsel 

noted on the record the fact of having conferred with Brashear, and the last hearing 

resu lted in  trial being moved to an earl ier date, where defense cou nsel invited 

Brashear to p rovide h is input, reveal ing that Brashear supported the cou rt's action.  

There is no ind ication that Brashear's abi l ity to confer with cou nsel du ring the 

hearings wou ld have changed any resu lt .  In add ition ,  Brashear g ives no reason 

that when trial occu rred affected the outcome of th is case. 

Brashear cites !i@gg in support of his argument that a trial court has an 

affi rmative duty to provide gu idance on how a defendant can privately confer with 
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counsel regard less of whether the record permits review of the issue .5 Brashear 

m ischaracterizes Bragg. In Bragg, the State conceded that it was manifest error 

affecting  a constitutiona l  right for the defendant to participate in a l l  pretria l hearings 

by video wh ile h is attorney appeared in  court .  28 Wn . App .  2d at 504 n .5 .  The 

court accepted review under RAP 2 .5(a)(3) ,  but cautioned , "[W]e do not ho ld that 

every such deprivation satisfies RAP 2 .5(a)(3). Man ifest error must first be found . "  

� at 504 n .5 .  We explained there was no "bright-l ine rule that a tria l  court 

affi rmatively m ust establ ish a p rocess on  the record for confidential attorney-client 

communicat ion, or it commits a constitutiona l  violation , "  and instead held that 

"reviewing courts shou ld consider the totality of the circumstances, including 

whether the tria l  court explicitly establ ished a p rocess for such communications, 

g iven the variety of d iffere nt circumstances that may occur. " � at 507. In other 

words,  the trial court's accommodation for private conferral is merely one factor 

relevant  to assessing whether  an error is man ifest. This factor does not a id 

Brashear, because despite h is asking us to infer he was u nable to confer with 

counsel ,  the record is s i lent o n  whether the tria l  cou rt's videoconferencing platform 

a l lowed that capabi l ity. 

In contrast, in  B ragg, du ring at least fou r  critical stage proceedings the trial 

court provided no gu idance a bout how to privately confer and explicitly refused to 

5 Brashear a lso cites State v. Schlenker, but in that matter the appellant 
preserved error by objecting to the use of videoconferencing in  the trial court . 3 1  
Wn . App. 2 d  920, 553 P.3d 7 1 2 ,  725 (2024). 
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answer Bragg's question about how to confer with his counsel.6 kl at 506, 5 1 0-

1 1 .  The  court appl ied the constitutional harmless error standard and held it cou ld 

not know beyond a reasonable doubt whether the outcome of the case would have 

d iffered if the defendant had been able to have h is attorney's confidential  

assistan ce during the four  critica l stage hea rings. kl at 51 2, 51 6.  The substance 

of the hearings appeared to have been sign ificant to the outcome. They were a 

review h earing d iscussing a plea offer, a hearing d iscussing Bragg's request to 

d ischarg e  counsel , and two hearings d iscussing DNA evidence and the potential 

need for addit ional expert testimony at tria l .  kl They included plea d iscussions ,  

and  we could not exclude reasonable doubt about whether conferral might have 

led to a plea bargain hundreds of months shorter than Bragg's u ltimate sentence . 

� at 5 1 2-1 3 .  These were matters sign ificant to the tria l ,  and occurred in  a context 

where it was apparent that Bragg and h is counsel had severe d ifficu lty 

commun icating .  � at 5 1 3-1 4 .  The lack of the abi l ity to privately confer  thus 

appeared to sign ificantly impact hearings whose outcome shaped the tria l .  

Brashear does not show how commun ication with cou nsel at any of the 

pretria l  hearings in h is case cou ld have affected the trial .  He therefore fa ils to show 

man ifest error affecting a constitutiona l  right under RAP 2 .5(a)(3) and we decl ine 

to reach this claim of error. 

6 Bragg repeated ly alerted the cou rt to h is desire to confer with counsel  and  
h is inabi l ity to  do so ,  therefore i t  i s  not clear that !2.@.gg is properly viewed as a 
case in which objection was not made in  the trial cou rt. 
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We have determ ined that the remainder of this opin ion has no precedential 

value. Therefore ,  it wil l be fi led for public record in  accordance with the rules 

govern ing unpubl ished opin ions. See RCW 2.06.040. 

UNPUBL ISHED TEXT FOLLOWS 

Brashear add itional ly argues ( 1 ) the tria l  cou rt violated h is right to a fa ir  trial 

in admitting multiple references to h is criminal  h istory, (2) the State engaged in 

prosecutoria l m isconduct, (3) Mourer d id not h ave actual  authority to consent to 

officers' warrantless entries into Brashear's property, (4) cumu lative error 

occurred,  (5) the tria l  court fa i led to follow the proced ura l  requirements of the 

menta l  health sentencing alternative (MHSA) statute , RCW 9 .94A.695, (6) the trial 

court e rroneously imposed the VPA and community custody supervis ion fees , and 

(7) numerous additional  issues ra ised in a statement of additiona l  grounds. 

1 1 1  

The State a l leged that o n  October 26, 202 1 , October 30,  202 1 , and 

November 9, 202 1 , B rashear assaulted h is g i rlfriend, Jenny Mourer. The State 

charged Brashear with second degree assault, harassment,  two counts of fourth 

degree assault , th ird degree mal icious misch ief-al l  with domestic violence 

d esignations-interference with reporting  of domestic violence, and first degree 

u nlawful possession of a firearm . I n  the State's case , C lark County Sherriffs 

Deputy M ichael Gonzalez testified an incident occurred on October 27,  202 1 at 

a round 2 :00 a .m . ,  where a female cal led and said her head was bleeding a nd she 

wanted an ambu lance . 
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Deputy Gonzalez testified Mourer ran down the h i l l  and "had blood coming 

down from the top of her head. And she also had lacerations on her, I bel ieve it 

was r igh t  arm and wrist area."  The deputy testified that Mourer told him "that her 

boyfriend  or at the time, [Brashear] were argu ing over her mom call ing her and that 

she  g ot h it over the head with a hard object and she d idn't  know what it was . "  After 

takin g  p h otos of Mourer, Deputy Gonzalez walked her down to the ambu lance . 

Officers then went up  to the residence to search for Brashear using a K-9 u nit, but 

cou ld  n ot locate h im .  Mourer  testified she and Brashear began dating sometime 

after February 1 ,  2021 , and stopped dating October 26, 2021 because "that's the 

day [Brashear] assau lted" her. Mourer testified that she "got knocked off the truck. 

I was sitt ing on the back of the truck. And . . .  either he punched me or kicked me. 

I d on ' t  remember wh ich came first, but I remember I flew off the back of the truck 

and I g ot knocked out. " Mourer  testified Brashear h it her with h is fists and "a tool 

bag that had two dri l ls in it." Mourer  testified she susta ined a "collapsed lung on 

my left side and I had fractu red ribs and I had to get stiches on my arm and staples 

in my head."  Med ical witnesses at trial verified these inju ries from the October 26-

27,  2021 incident. 

Mourer  said she left the hospital on October 30 and Brashear picked her up 

and took her back to h is house.  Mourer testified that back at the house, she "got 

h u rt again" and "got punched off the toilet." Mourer was punched in the face and 

testified that she tried to defend herself by grabbing "whatever I could around me 

and I was laying on my bag and I j ust started throwing sh it, stuff." Mourer  testified 
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B rashear threatened her l ife ,  and told her "it was e ither me or h im , "  mean ing " [o]ne 

of us was gonna d ie . "  

Deputy Gonza lez a rrived at the property on October 30 and assisted Mourer 

with gathering her belongings and walked her down the d riveway to the ambulance 

where she was transported to the hospita l .  Deputy Gonza lez testified he searched 

the p roperty looking for Brashear, and du ring h is search found a " revolver" located 

"on a bench outs ide of the vacant home." 

B rashear testified that h is relationship with Mourer turned bad "almost 

immediately" and  during arguments she wou ld strike h im .  On October 26 , just after 

midnight, the two were a rg uing in  the garage when Mourer p icked up Brashear's 

d ri l l  bag and swung it at h im .  Brashear responded by pushing Mourer off to the 

side , causing her to fa l l  onto the h itch of the truck. According to Brashear, as he 

pushed M ou rer, the beer bottle in h is hand fell to the ground and broke. Brashear 

testified , "I bel ieve she fractured two of her ribs on her left side and then she rolled 

over and was dazed , and she had mentioned yesterday that she ran her forehead 

into the exha ust p ipe of the truck." Mourer then fel l  i nto the g lass from the broken 

beer bottle, "[a]nd  then ,  when she was gett ing back out from under the truck, she 

was p ush ing herself up ,  causing her to cut her a rm .  Brashear expla ined that there 

was blood "a l l  over the door and on  the refrigerator" because he  helped Mourer  up 

and took her into the main house. The two then made the decision to cal l  9 1 1 and 

Brashear helped her  into the ambulance that n ight. Afterwards , Brashear went 

back into the house and went to s leep .  
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B rashear testified that he p icked Mourer up from the hosp ital and brought  

her  b ack to h is house,  where the two began argu ing later that evening .  Brashear 

testified Mourer  "sa id that she was gonna call up an ambu lance and tell them that 

her l ung  was collaps ing ,  so that she cou ld get off the property." Brashear helped 

M o u re r  carry her th ings down to the property l ine at the bottom of the driveway. 

The State dismissed the interference with report ing of domestic violence 

charge b efore the case was submitted to the ju ry. The j u ry acqu itted Brashear of 

harassment, both cou nts of fou rth degree assault, and third degree malicious  

m isch i ef. The ju ry fou nd Brashear gu i lty of second degree assault and u nlawfu l 

possession of a firearm, and found that Brashear and Mou rer were i ntimate 

partne rs .  

A t  sentencing , the tria l cou rt imposed the VPA fee ,  and waived al l  other non­

mandatory legal financial obl igat ions .  Brashear asked for a MHSA because of h is 

h istory as a "severe alcohol ic ."  The trial cou rt denied Brashear's req uest a nd 

stated , 

I look at th is case and what is bothering me is o r  what I 'm having 
trouble with is the argument that a lcohol is the primary problem here. 
It 's a b it, i n  th is Court's view of saying that fuel is a danger and fue l  
is a problem. Wel l ,  i f  fuel is on ly a danger to or  explosive when 
there's an underlying flame or  ign it ion o r  someth ing that cou ld start 
it .  So ,  obviously, alcohol ts a ltfelong struggle and condit ion here, but 
what's more bothersome to the Court is a pattern of behavior, not 
j ust i n  th is case,  but perhaps previously. 

But what I 'm seeing here and what I remember from the case 
was a pattern of a certa in  amount of g rooming and predation upon 
th is particu lar vict im. It's hard to imag ine a more vulnerab le victim or  
a fact pattern presentation that demonstrates a particu lar 
vulnerabi l ity. 

As I reca l l ,  you found her at a gas station i n  Battleground with 
a ch i ld in February a lone and in the ra in .  Took her into h is property 
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out in North County. You see patterns of isolation and financial 
dependence and other dependence on  h im.  I don't th ink that's 
accidenta l .  I don't th ink that can be explained by alcohol over the 
course of eight or n ine months when we get into October a nd 
November with these a l leged incidents occurred . 

I th ink th is was a l l  whether intentional or subconscious,  an  
effort to g room and put this person in a position of  complete 
dependence.  And I th ink when the Court stands at the zen ith of its 
a uthority and power is when it's protecting those that a re vulnerable 
in the community. 

Brashear appeals h is conviction .  

IV 

Brashear a rgues the trial cou rt violated h is right to a fai r  trial in fa i l ing to 

sustain objections and strike testimony where mu ltiple witnesses testified about 

Brashear's criminal  h istory and prior imprison ment.7 We d isagree. 

We review the tria l  cou rt's cure of i rregu la rities, such as improper testimony, 

for an abuse of discretion .  State v. Post, 1 1 8 Wn .2d 596, 620, 826 P.2d 1 72 ,  837 

P .2d 599 ( 1 992). "When a tria l  court's exercise of its d iscretion is man ifestly 

un reasonable or based upon u ntenable g rounds or reasons, an  abuse of d iscretion 

exists ." State v. Powel l ,  1 26 Wn.2d 244 , 258, 893 P.2d 6 1 5  ( 1 995). "To determine 

the prejudicial effect of an i rregu lar  occurrence during tria l ,  we examine the 

occurrence's seriousness, whether  it involved cumulative evidence,  and whether 

the trial court properly i nstructed the jury to d isregard it." State v. Thompson ,  90 

Wn . App . 4 1 , 46 , 950 P .2d 977 ( 1 998). 

7 The State arg ues we shou ld decline review of this issue because Brashear 
fai ls to assign error to the trial court's decision on the motion for mistria l and 
analyzes h is claim on ly within that context. Brashear assigns error to the 
witnesses' references and  a rg ues the issue in h is ana lysis . Brashear has properly 
ra ised the issue on appea l .  
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Before tria l ,  the parties stipu lated that Brashear was previously convicted of 

an  offense .  Brashear moved to exclude evidence of his prior bad acts , and the 

tria l  cou rt stated if such evidence was to be elicited , " it should be done with an offer 

of p roof o utside the presence of the jury." Brashear argues that there were five 

instan ce s  where witnesses provided testimony that violated the court's order as to 

the ER 404(b) evidence that was addressed du ring motions in l imine. 

F i rst, when asked how he general ly executes a warrant, C lark Cou nty 

Sheriff's Deputy Zachary Nie lsen testified , "Every time that we do a search warrant, 

we do a risk assessment, wh ich would lead us to total ing points based upon 

crimina l  h istories , access to weapons, that k ind of th ing , "  and "for th is incident we 

had SWAT serve the warrant based upon the risk to deputies." Brashear objected 

based o n  non-responsiveness, wh ich the trial court overru led . 

Second , Deputy Gonzalez testified he knew Brashear had "a crimina l  

h istory." Outside the presence of the ju ry ,  Brashear asked the trial court to  strike 

that comment. The tria l  cou rt stated there was no prejudice to Brashear and 

refused B rashear's request to  instruct the ju ry to  d isregard the testimony because 

it wou ld h ave d rawn unnecessary attention to the issue .  

Th i rd ,  the State asked Deputy Gonzalez to  identify Brashear, to  which 

Brash ear objected for lack of foundation .  The State attempted to establ ish 

foundation : 

Q Have you seen M r. Brashear before? 

A In  person ,  no .  

Q How have you seen h im? 
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A By recent mugshots in our RMS system .  

[Defense counsel]: Objection as to the reference of 
mugshots and ask that it be stricken .  

T H E  COURT: Wel l ,  counsel ra ised a foundational 
question .  He can answer that question .  Some public records? 

[Deputy Gonza lez] : Yes ,  publ ic records.  I was able to 
obtain  a photograph of [Brashear] ,  which I d id that night to try and 
figure out h is identity. 

Brashear requested a conversation outside the presence of the jury ,  in wh ich he 

raised both this and the earl ier reference to criminal  h istory, and asked for an 

instruction striking the references from the record . The State argued "the re is 

going to be a stipu lation that he  has a crime of-a conviction for a serious offense ," 

and " I  don't care if Your  Honor wants to strike this particular th ing from the record . 

But for the record from the State's understanding ,  there is no prejud ice ,  because 

the jury is [going to] hear i nformation . "  The trial court decl ined to strike the 

objectionable references from the record . 

Fourth , Mourer testified she was worried "[b]ecause [Brashear] said he 

refused to go back to prison ,"  so she did not meet officers at the end of the 

d riveway. Brashear objected , and outside the presence of the ju ry, moved for a 

mistria l .  The tria l  court den ied the motion for a mistrial and declined to act on 

Brashear's objection. 

F ifth , Clark County Sheriffs Detective Matthew Volker testified , " I n itially, it 

was unclear if the defendant and/or [Mourer] were [in] that residence , but there 

was obviously concern for [Mourer's] safety. So, there-the house was basically 

cleared by our  SWAT team,  to make sure that nobody was i nside." Detective 
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Volker fu rther testified that SWAT does not get d ispatched every t ime officers go 

to  a case l ike that. Brashear d id not  object , and th us wa ived the issue .  

Because of the trial court 's res istance to Brashear's requests to order 

improper comments stricken ,  i n  none of these instances can we say "the tria l  court 

properly instructed the j u ry to d isregard it. " Thompson , 90 Wn . App . at 46. Thus ,  

we confront an evidentiary record wh ich the trial court al lowed to go to the ju ry with 

numerous references to other acts by Brashear that were obviously inadmissible 

under ER 403 and ER 404(b) , and that were excluded by the order in l imine .  The 

reference to the SWAT response had no identified relevance to the action but 

served on ly to improperly imply that Brashear was dangerous .  Such references 

were not akin to a response to a chal lenge by the defense to the rel iabi l ity of the 

State's  investigation of Brashear's gu i lt. The fi rst reference might have been 

techn ically responsive to the State's  q uestion about the procedu re for executing a 

warrant, but the question could not have alerted defense counsel to a forthcoming 

reference to criminal h istory and the dangerousness impl ied in a SWAT response, 

and the purpose of motions in l imine and of stipu lating to relevant crimina l  h istory 

is to prevent such surprises from occurri ng .  Al lowing the references to the SWAT 

respon se and then refusing to strike them was error. The reference to " recent 

mugshots" was not cumulative g iven the age of the provable prior offense,  as the 

trial court recognized from rephrasing the inqu iry into one about "publ ic records . "  

And the trial court again erred by refusing to strike the improper testimony. 

Wh i le the question is a close one ,  we decl ine to order a new tria l .  U lt imately, 

the q uestion is whether the improper statements ,  when viewed against the 
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background of a l l  the evidence , were so prejud icia l that Brashear was den ied a fair  

tria l .  To the extent these refe rences ind icated a generic criminal  h istory or  having 

been in  prison ,  they were harmless in  this case because the ju ry knew from jury 

selection that the State was accusing Brashear of having a prior conviction and the 

subsequent stipu lation included in  the fina l  instructions indicated the prior 

conviction .  The on ly extent to wh ich these statements implied more was the extent 

to wh ich they suggested more recent criminal ity. This was an impl ication at most, 

and was never d i rectly ind icated . In l ight of the deferential standard of review, we 

can not say that the trial cou rt's decision to deny a m istria l  amounted to an abuse 

of d iscretion ,  and for the same reason the improper references do not j ustify a new 

tria l .  

Brashear further a rgues that defense cou nsel was ineffective in  fa i l ing to 

contemporaneously object to a l l  the improper testimony. To prevai l  on a claim of 

ineffective assistance of cou nsel the defendant must demonstrate that: ( 1 )  

cou nsel's representation was deficient, meaning it fel l  below a n  objective standard 

of reasonableness based on  consideration of a l l  the circumstances; and (2) the 

defendant was prej ud iced ,  mean ing there is a reasonable probabi l ity that the result 

of the proceed ing would have been d ifferent but for the chal lenged conduct. 

Strickland v. Wash i ngton, 466 U .S .  668 , 687, 1 04 S. Ct. 2052 , 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 

( 1 984) ;  McFarland, 1 27 Wn .2d at 334-35. If either prong has not been met, we 

need not address the other prong .  State v. Garcia, 57 Wn . App . 927, 932 , 791 

P.2d 244 ( 1 990) . 
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Brashear fa i ls to establish there was a reasonable probabi lity that the 

outcome would have been d ifferent g iven the amount of evidence of Brashear's 

gu i lt regarding the second degree assault and un lawfu l possession of a firearm .  

Moreover, the ju ry's acqu itta l on four  other counts ind icates that i t  was not undu ly 

swayed against neutra l ly weigh ing the evidence and being wil l ing to acquit. 

Defense counsel was not ineffective in fa i l ing to object to the testimony. 

V 

Brashear argues the State engaged in  prosecutorial misconduct by 

commenting on h is gu ilt du ring cross-examination .  We conclude the misconduct 

was not prejud icia l .  

During Brashear's cross-examination ,  he claimed the investigation was 

u nfa ir because he was not g iven a chance to g ive h is version of events. Later, he 

admitted he was g iven an  opportun ity to give a statement, but he added that when 

he offered to come in to the station ,  the police planned to have him arrested "no 

matter what." The State chal le nged this testimony by confronting Brashear with 

the fact he had absented h imself from the scene of at least one of Mourer's cla imed 

assau lts , and the fol lowing testimony occurred:  

Q Why wou ld he arrest you ,  if you d id nothing wrong? 

A I d idn 't say I d id noth ing wrong . I t 's obvious that there was an 
assau lt on [Mourer] that n ight. Not an  assau lt, but she was hurt .  She 
was harmed . She went to the hospita l .  

Q All right .  

A And I was fearfu l that I was going to be ra i lroaded . 
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Q Okay. So,  don't you th ink that it wou ld be logica l  then , that 
you would want to leave with law enforcement? That you would want 
to be present when they show up at the house, so you don 't look 
guiltier then you are by not being there. 

[Defense cou nsel] : Objection ,  Your Honor. Motion to strike . 

THE COURT: Rephrase the question , please. S usta ined . 

(Emphasis added . )  Outside the presence of the ju ry ,  Brashear moved for a mistria l 

d ue to prosecutorial misconduct. The trial cou rt den ied the motion .  

I n  a prosecutorial misconduct cla im , the defendant bears the burden of 

proving  that the prosecutor's comments were both improper and prejud icia l .  State 

v. Thorgerson ,  1 72 Wn.2d 438 , 442 , 258 P .3d 43 (201 1 ) .  I f  the defendant objected 

at tria l ,  the defendant must show that the prosecutor's misconduct resulted in 

prejud ice that had a substantial l ikel ihood of affecting the jury's verdict. State v. 

Anderson ,  1 53 Wn. App .  4 1 7, 427, 220 P .3d 1 273 (2009) . 

A prosecutor can not use their position of power and prestige to sway the 

ju ry and may not express a n  individua l  opin ion of the defendant's gu ilt, 

independent of the evidence actual ly in the case . I n  re Pers .  Restraint of 

G lasmann ,  1 75 Wn.2d 696, 706, 286 P .3d 673 (20 1 2) .  Many cases warn of the 

need for a prosecutor to avoid expressing a personal opin ion of gu i lt. !;JL., State 

v. McKenzie , 1 57 Wn.2d 44, 53, 1 34 P.3d 221  (2006) ; State v. Dhal iwal ,  1 50 Wn .2d 

559 , 577-78 , 79 P.3d 432 (2003) ; State v. Stith , 7 1  Wn. App. 1 4 , 2 1 -22 , 856 P .2d 

4 1 5  ( 1 993). 

Here ,  the prosecutor's cross-examination was improper because it 

embedded i n  the q uestion  the prosecutor's own testimony that Brashear was 

gu i lty. The State's a rgument on appeal that it was harmless because the 
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prosecutor was about to argue in  clos ing that Brashear was gu i lty is u nacceptable 

as a justification because the prosecutor was not entitled to argue with the witness 

instead of pursu ing proper cross-examination ,  and even in argument the 

prosecutor wou ld not have been entitled to offer their own opin ion .  However, the 

miscond uct was not prejud icial because it d id not have a substantial l ike l ihood of 

affecting the j u ry's verd ict. Brashear d id not answer the question , and the trial 

court susta ined the objection and instructed the prosecutor  to rephrase . The ju ry 

was instructed that the attorney's statements were not evidence ,  and ju rors are 

presumed to fol low the court's instructions.  I n  re Pers .  Restra int of Phelps , 1 90 

Wn .2d 1 55 ,  1 72 ,  4 1 0  P .3d 1 1 42 (20 1 8) .  We conclude this one instance of 

misconduct does not rise to the level justifying appel late rel ief. 

VI 

Brashear argues the State failed to prove Mourer had actual authority to 

consent to officers' warrantless searches of Brashear's property. We d isagree . 

A 

The tria l  cou rt held a CrR 3 .6 hearing on Brashear's motion to suppress.  

The fol lowing testimony was el icited . 

On October 27,  202 1 , Deputy Gonzalez was d ispatched to Brashear's 

residence on a report of a possible assault .  During the investigation ,  the deputy 

took a report of Mourer's inju ries and learned Brashear and Mourer were 

associated with the add ress. The property conta ined a locked metal gate between 

the house and the road , and law enforcement had to walk around the gate to 

access the property. Deputy Gonzalez testified that Mourer gave law enforcement 

22 



No.  866 1 0-9-1/23 

permission to search the property. Deputy Gonzalez further testified that Brashear 

was not on the property at the time and "we were unable to locate h im or get a hold 

of h im" to ask for h is consent to search . Deputy Gonzalez took photographs later 

marked as the State's exh ib its 7- 1 8. He fou nd the door to a house on the property 

ajar, and took the photographs from standing outside. H is tria l testimony later 

explained that the photographs generally showed broken items, scenes of 

d istu rbance, and in severa l locations b lood d roplets . 

On October 30, 202 1 , Deputy Gonzalez was d ispatched to Brashear's 

property for an unknown medical problem. When he a rrived at the metal gate ,  

Deputy Gonzalez walked past i t  because "when we showed up there ,  we could 

hear two people ta lk ing or a rgu ing with each other up the d riveway," and based on 

h is previous visit to the property, the deputy "had estab lished probable cause to 

arrest [Brashear] . "  Deputy Gonzalez testified that as they approached, Mourer 

was walking down to them and told them that Brashear had departed . The deputy 

was a bout 70 yards from the gate and he cou ld "actua lly see the house itself when 

I actual ly contacted [Mourer] because she had property that she was taking-she 

had her belongings with her that were on the driveway." Mourer had one or two 

"[t]u b  boxes with cloth ing ,  bags with cloth ing ," and "a backpack." Officers d id not 

have a warrant to search the property. Deputy Gonzalez testified that " [t]he way 

[Mourer] ind icated , she pointed in the d i rection" Brashear had gone , and "it was 

non-verbal to me that we could search the property for [Brashear] . "  Deputy 

Gonzalez testified that he p laced Mourer in an  ambu lance ,  and began searching 
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for Brashear with a K-9 un it .  Officers d id not locate Brashear, but d id locate a 

firearm on a bench outs ide of the vacant home located on the property. 

Mourer  testified that law enforcement asked for permission to search the 

property on October 27 and she affi rmatively gave them permission .  Moure r  

testified that o n  October 3 0 ,  she was again contacted b y  law enforcement. Moure r  

testified that on that day, she was h id ing i n  the bushes a n d  felt that she "cou ld n 't 

get to the bottom of the property." Mourer testified she d id not go to the bottom of 

the property because she was " in fear  of the cops getting shot," because Brashea r  

"said he's not going back to prison .  It' l l  be  a shootout before he  goes back to 

prison . "  Mourer confirmed law enforcement asked for, and she gave ,  her  

permission to search the property on October 30 .  

Mourer testified she had been staying at  Brashear's property "on and off for 

months , "  and wou ld stay there five n ights a week. Mourer testified she had 

permission to spend the n ight at B rashear's house because "[h]e brought me 

there , "  and " I  don't  d rive. So, that's the on ly way I cou ld get there is if he p icked 

me up. "  Out of 30 days, Mourer would stay the n ight "at least a good 25" n ights i n  

a row. Before October 27 ,  Mourer had been staying at the property for over  two 

weeks . "[H]alf of [her] apartment" was at the property. Mourer had access to the 

outs ide of the property, including access to the keys to Brashear's truck, the house,  

and the locked gate because the keys were kept in the truck. Mourer testified 

Brashear "did hand me the keys one or more than one time. He told me what 

every key belonged to," and "[h]e said if someth ing happened to h im or  he went 

somewhere that th is is-he to ld me what a l l  the keys are for specifica lly and to if-
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and I would have to g ive them to h is son or something."  Mourer testified that she 

stayed on  the property occasiona lly when Brashear was not present. 

Brashear testified Mourer d id not l ive with him but instead l ived in an 

apartment that he helped her move into .  Brashear testified he and Mourer dated 

"off and on" for about seven months and Mourer would stay on  the property "maybe 

three nights a week." Brashear testified that he "stayed the n ight at her apartment 

I th ink  four-four  nights , "  in  the seven months they were dating .  

B 

Brashear chal lenges finding of fact 4 ,  wh ich states ,  

Mourer felt she cou ld not meet law enforcement outside of  the gate 
because she was fearfu l of the defendant. She felt she needed to 
h ide in the bushes and that she cou ldn 't make it to the bottom of the 
property. 

This find ing is s upported by Mourer's testimony she d id not go to the bottom of the 

property because of fear of a shootout, and so h id in  the bushes. Substantial 

evidence supports th is find ing .  

Brashear  chal lenges find ing of fact 5 ,  wh ich states ,  

Once on the property law enforcement heard two people arg uing with 
each other. Mourer walked to them and said that the defendant had 
run off. She pointed in  the d i rection that he ran and gave law 
enforcement permission to search the property for h im.  She had her 
belongings i n  the d riveway, [wh ich] included one or two tub boxes 
fi l led with cloth ing ,  bags of cloth ing ,  a nd a backpack. Mourer was 
placed into an ambulance and left the property. 

Deputy Gonzalez testified that he heard "two people ta lking or a rgu ing with each 

other up the d riveway," and Mourer  was walking down to them and told them that 

B rashear had departed . Deputy Gonzalez testified that Mourer "pointed in a 
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d irection" Brashear had taken ,  a nd Mourer testified law enforcement asked for 

consent to search the property , and she said yes .  Deputy Gonza lez testified 

Mourer  had one or two "[t]ub boxes with cloth ing ,  bags with cloth ing , "  and "a 

backpack," and he walked her to the ambu lance. Substantial evidence supports 

this fi nd ing of fact . 

Brashear chal lenges find ing of fact 8 ,  wh ich states ,  

Prior to  contact with law enforcement, Mourer had  been l iving with 
the defendant at the 391 st Street add ress. She and the defendant 
were in a dating relationship and Mourer  had recently been l iving at 
the add ress for about three to fou r  weeks . I n  tota l ,  l ived at the 
address on and off for about seven months and had been staying 
there about th ree to five nights per week. Half of her belongings were 
on the property. The defendant had to transport her to the address 
as she did not d rive . She had access to the property, includ ing the 
keys to his truck, the house, and the gate .  Mourer stayed on the 
property on occasion when the defendant was not present. 

Mourer  testified that prior to contact with law enforcement she had been staying at 

the property. She had been staying there "on and off for months," and would stay 

there five n ights a week .  "[H]alf of [her] apartment" was at the property. Because 

Mourer  d id not d rive , Brashear d rove her there .  She had access to the outside of 

the property and access to the keys to Brashear's truck, the house, and the locked 

gate . She also stayed on the property occasionally when Brashear was not 

present. Substantial evidence supports this find ing of fact. 

C 

Brashear chal lenges conclusion of law 1 ,  wh ich states ,  

Law enforcement entered the property under exigent circumstances 
given the natu re of the d ispatch and the nature of the assau lt from 
three days earlier. 
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Unchal lenged finding of fact 1 states law enforcement was d ispatched to 

Brashear's residence on October 27,  202 1 on a report of a possible assault and  

Deputy Gonzalez took a report of  Mourer's i njuries. U nchallenged find ing of fact 

3 states Deputy Gonzalez was d ispatched to the same location on October 30 for 

an  unknown med ical problem. 

Warrantless entry onto the premises i n  response to a 9 1 1 cal l ,  or a report 

of someone need ing assistance, is justifiable under the emergency a id exception .  

s.,&, State v. Johnson ,  1 04 Wn . App.  409 ,  4 1 2 , 1 6  P.3d 680 (200 1 )  (domestic 

violence report); State v. Leupp, 96 Wn. App. 324, 326, 980 P .2d 765 ( 1 999) (91 1 

hang up call) ; State v. Menz,  75 Wn. App. 351 , 352, 880 P .2d 48 ( 1 994) (domestic 

violence report) . The find ings of fact support th is conclusion of law. 

Brashear chal lenges conclusions of law 3 through 6, wh ich state, 

3 .  Mourer  gave law enforcement consent to search the property. 
4 .  Mourer had  actua l  authority to  provide such consent as she 

was a co-habitant of the property. 
5 .  Law enforcement were legal ly on  the premises when they 

fou nd the firearm because of Mourer's consent. 
6 .  The firearm is admissible. 

U nder article I ,  section 7 of the Wash ington Constitution ,  warrantless searches are 

per se unreasonable. State v. Hendrickson , 1 29 Wn.2d 6 1 , 70, 9 1 7 P.2d 563 

( 1 996) , overru led on other grounds by Carey v. Muslad i n ,  549 U . S. 70,  1 27 S. Ct. 

649 ,  1 66 L. Ed .  2d 482 (2006) .  Article I ,  section 7 provides that "[n]o person shal l 

be d isturbed in  h is private affairs ,  or h is home invaded , without auth ority of law." 

One exception to the warrant requ i rement is consent to search ,  and it is the State's 

burden to establ ish that consent was lawfu l ly g iven .  State v .  Thompson ,  1 5 1 
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Wn .2d 793, 803, 92 P.3d 228 (2004).  I n  search and seizure cases involving  

cohabitants, Wash ington has  adopted the common authority ru le. kl at  804 . 

Article I ,  section 7 of the Washington Constitution provides greater 

protection of ind ividua l  privacy than the Fourth Amendment. State v. Morse ,  1 56 

Wn .2d 1 ,  1 0 , 1 23 P.3d 832 (2005) . U nder article I ,  section 7 ,  whether a person 

can consent to the search of a premises is based upon that person's independent 

authority to so consent and the reasonable expectation of their co-occupant about 

that authority. "F irst, a consenting party must be able to permit the search in  h is 

own right. Second ,  it must be reasonable to find that the defendant has assumed 

the risk that a co-occupant mig ht permit a search . "  State v. Mathe, 1 02 Wn.2d 

537 , 543-44, 688 P.2d 859 ( 1 984) .  " I n  essence, an  ind ividua l  sharing authority 

over an otherwise private enclave inherently has a lessened expectation that h is 

affairs wi l l  remain on ly with in  his purview, as the other cohabitants may permit 

entry in  their own rig ht ."  State v. Leach , 1 1 3 Wn.2d 735, 739, 782 P.2d 1 035 

( 1 989) . The test for the authority to consent is as fol lows : 

The touchstone of the inquiry is that the person with common 
authority must have free access to the shared area and authority to 
invite others into the shared area. That access must be sign ificant 
enough that it can be concluded that the nonconsenting co-occupant 
assumed the risk that the consenting co-occupant wou ld invite others 
into the shared area.  When a guest is more than a casual  visitor and 
has "ru n of the house,"  her lesser interest in  the property is sufficient 
to render consent to search effective on ly as to the areas of the home 
"where a visitor would normally be received ." 

Morse ,  1 56 Wn .2d at  1 0-1 1 (internal quotation marks omitted) (quoting 4 WAYNE 

R. LAFAVE , SEARCH & SEIZURE § 8 .5(e) , at 235 (4th ed .  2004)) 
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Here ,  Mourer was "more than a casual  visitor" as Brashear's g irlfriend and 

her testimony supports that the part of the premises Brashear had made avai lable 

to her as her dwel l ing included at least the exterior g rounds of the property where 

the gun  was fou nd and the open door th rough wh ich pol ice viewed the interior of 

the residence .  Mourer and Brashear were in a relationsh ip ,  and Mourer had been 

l iving at Brashear's residence on and off for about seven months ,  about three to 

five n ights a week. Mourer was a regu lar  co-habitant on the property and thus had 

independent authority to consent to a search of the property. It is reasonable to 

conclude Brashear assumed the risk that Mourer would consent to a search , as he 

a l lowed her to stay on the property while he was away, he  al lowed her access to 

the house and gate keys , and the search arose out of her emergency call that he 

had assaulted her at the property whi le she was res id ing there .  

Brashear takes ou t  o f  context the court's d iscussion in  Thompson to argue 

that it was necessary to show not merely that Mourer had authority to allow these 

particular searches ,  but that she had "equal  control over the premises." I n  

Thompson , Thompson lived on a trai ler on  part of h is parents' land ,  and stored 

some items in a boathouse on another part of the land .  1 5 1  Wn.2d at  806. 

Thompson's father a uthorized a search of the boathouse .  kl at 799. Thompson 

rel ied on the rule that if a cohabitant is present and able to object, the police must 

"also" obtain  the cohabitant's consent to search-where a cohabitant is defined as 

a. person having "equal  control over the premises."  kl at 804-05. The court held 

that by merely storing some items in  the boathouse, Thompson did not enjoy equal 

control as the owner and so it was not necessary to a lso obta in  h is consent to 
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justify a search of the boathouse. kl at 805-06 . But Thompson d id not hold that 

"equal" authority must exist to g ive consent for any search , and Morse contrad icts 

that assertion by acknowledging that a guest m ight have the abi l ity to permit a 

search of common areas but not private areas i n  which the guest was not normal ly 

received . Morse , 1 56 Wn.2d at 1 1 .  As a regu lar  inhabitant of the property as 

Brashear's g i rlfriend,  Mourer had at least the authority described in Morse to a l low 

the searches of the property g rounds in which she was normal ly received . 

Conclusions of law 3 through 6 are supported by the tria l court's find ings of 

fact. Mourer had actual authority to consent to the search of the p roperty. 

VI I 

Brashear argues the errors are prejud icial in the aggregate . We d isagree .  

Cumu lative error may warrant reversa l ,  even i f  each error stand ing alone wou ld 

otherwise be considered harmless . State v. Weber, 1 59 Wn.2d 252, 279 , 1 49 P .3d 

646 (2006) .  However, the doctrine does not apply where the errors are few and 

have l ittle or no effect on the outcome of the tria l .  kl Because the errors a re few 

and had no effect on the outcome of the tria l ,  we reject Brashear's cumu lative error 

argument. 

VI I I  

Brashear argues the tria l court erred by fa i l ing to order and review a 

presentence report authored by the department of corrections, which he claims 

was requ i red by the M H SA statute . We d isagree. 

Tria l  courts have "considerable d iscretion" when determin ing whether a n  

a lternative sentence i s  appropriate .  State v .  Hender ,  1 80 Wn . App. 895, 900-0 1 , 
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324 P .3d 780 (201 4) .  A court that fa ils to consider a requested a lternative abuses 

its d iscretion .  State v. Grayson ,  1 54 Wn .2d 333, 342 , 1 1 1  P .3d 1 1 83 (2005) .  

There are fou r  el igibi l ity requ i rements to be sentenced u nder the MHSA statute: 

(a) The defendant is convicted of a felony that is not a serious 
violent offense or sex offense; 
(b) The defendant is d iagnosed with a serious mental i l lness 
recognized by the d iagnostic manual  in use by menta l  health 
professionals at the time of sentencing ;  
(c) The defendant and the commun ity would benefit from 
supervision and treatment, as determ ined by the judge; a nd 
(d) The defendant is wi l l ing to participate in  the sentencing 
a lternative. 

RCW 9.94A.695(1 ) .  The tria l  court may rely on mental health services reports to 

determine whether a defe ndant had a serious menta l  i l lness. RCW 9.94A.695(2) . 

To assist the tria l  court in  its determination ,  the department of corrections "shall" 

provide a written presentence investigation report, however, the tria l  cou rt "may 

waive the p roduction of this report if sufficient information is ava ilable to the court 

to make a determination under subsection (4) of this section . "  RCW 9.94A.695(3) .  

Subsection fou r  reads, in  relevant part, "After considering a l l  avai lable information 

and determin ing whether the defendant is el ig ible,  the court shal l  consider whether 

the defendant and the commun ity will benefit from the use of th is sentencing 

a lternative. "  RCW 9.94A.695(4) . 

I n  its denia l  of the M H SA req uest, the tria l  cou rt referenced Brashear's 

pattern of "grooming and predation" and patterns of " isolation and financial 

dependence and other dependence on him" which the trial cou rt did not believe to 

be accide ntal .  The trial cou rt further stated it bel ieved it stood "at the zen ith of its 

a uthority a nd power when it's protecting those that are vu lnerab le in  the 
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commun ity." Moreover, the record conta ins no ind ication that at the time of 

sentencing Brashear had ever been d iagnosed with a serious menta l i l l ness 

triggering el ig ib i l ity for the sentencing a lternative . Based on the trial cou rt's view 

of the evidence, it concluded that the commun ity wou ld not benefit from g ranting 

the MHSA request. The tria l cou rt d id not abuse its d iscretion in decl in ing  to order  

a presentence investigation report. 

IX 

Brashear argues the tr ial  cou rt erroneously imposed the VPA and the 

commun ity custody supervision fees. The State concedes remand is appropriate 

to strike the imposition of both fees. We accept the State's concession and  remand 

for both fees to be stricken as a min isterial matter. 

X 

I n  h is statement of addit ional g rounds ,  Brashear ampl ifies the above 

arguments and fu rther asserts numerous claims regard ing p rosecutoria l  

misconduct, jud icial misconduct, and ineffective assistance of counse l .  We have 

considered Brashear's arguments that the prosecutor engaged in miscond uct by 

( 1 ) bring ing to the trial cou rt's attention outs ide the presence of the ju ry Mourer's 

u ncharged rape a l legation with a request to instruct Mourer to not mention it d u ring 

her testimony, (2) a l legedly vio lating conditions of  the omn ibus agreement by 

producing new (un identified) d iscovery, (3)  amending the information to add an 

add itional charge of fourth degree assau lt before tria l ,  (4) a l lowing Mourer  to testify 

with an a l leged ly active arrest warrant ,  and (5) a l leged ly misstating the evidence 

of Mourer's residential a lternatives du ring sentencing ,  that the trial court erred by 
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(6) violating  h is right to a speedy tria l ,  (7) reading the amended information to the 

jury ven i re which included the State's a l legation that Brashear had a prior 

conviction , (8) fa i l ing to take corrective action when a juror was overheard 

d iscussing jury selection on the phone,  and the parties agreed on taking no action ,  

(9) requesting that Deputy Gonzalez say "public records" instead of "recent 

m ugshots" (discussed above) ,  ( 1 0) denying a motion for mistrial (discussed 

above) ,  ( 1 1 )  admitting evidence of Brashear's su icida l  th reats but not admitting 

evidence of Mourer's "s imi lar behavior," ( 1 2) fa i l ing to ru le on Brashear's motion to 

strike the "recent mugshots" comment where the court redirected the testifying 

witness (discussed above) ,  a nd ( 1 3) admitting Mourer's statements to Detective 

Volker made the day after the n ight of October 30-31 , 202 1 , u nder the "excited 

utterance" exception ,  and that Brashear's counsel was ineffective in fa i l ing to ( 1 4) 

contemporaneously object to an  officer referring to Mourer as a "victim , "  ( 1 5) timely 

fi le a motion to sever cou nts (wh ich was later withdrawn) ,  ( 1 6) file a motion to 

d ismiss charges based on a speedy tria l violation ,  ( 1 7) cal l  Mourer's mother to 

testify, ( 1 8) subpoena ambulance records and Mourer's phone records ,  ( 1 9) 

decl ine a stipu lation with the State ,8 (20) object to the tria l  court violating 

Brashear's right to confer with counse l ,  (2 1 )  make the trial cou rt aware of the 

State's a l leged omnibus violations,  (22) move for a new jury panel ,  (23) object to 

the prosecutor's a l leged misstatements of Mourer's residentia l  a lternatives du ring 

8 Although not identified by Brashear, it is clear he is referring to the 
stipu lation concerning h is 201 1 conviction .  
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sentencing , and (24) impeach Deputy Gonzalez and Mourer. We have concluded 

that these claims lack merit. 

We affi rm Brashear's conviction ,  and remand to a l low the trial cou rt to strike 

the VPA and the commun ity custody supervision fees as a min isterial matter. 

WE CONCUR:  
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